

**BY-LAWS OF  
WESTERFIELD FARMS  
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION**

**ARTICLE I**

Offices

- Section 1. **Registered Office.** The Corporation shall have and continuously maintain in his State a registered office and a registered agent whose office is identical with such registered office. Such registered office shall be located at 5506 Yadkin Rd, Fayetteville, North Carolina, or at such other place within the State of North Carolina as may from time to time be fixed and determined by the Board of Directors.
- Section 2. **Principal Office.** The principal office of the Corporation shall be located at 5506 Yadkin Rd, Fayetteville NC, 28303 until such time as it is changed by the proper filing of the required notice with the office of the Secretary of State of North Carolina.

**ARTICLE II**

Definitions

- Section 1. The terms as used within the by-laws are defined as follows:
- A. **"Association"** shall mean and refer to **Westerfield Farms Homeowners' Association, Inc.**, a North Carolina non-profit corporation, its successors and assigns.
  - B. **"Association Member"** or **"Member"** shall mean and refer to the Declarant and its designated officers, employees or agents and all those Owners who are Members of the Association as provided in Master Declaration of Covenants **Part Three, ARTICLE I, Section 1** including the spouse and children (under 18) permanently residing with said Owner. The Board of Directors may make reasonable rules relating to proof of ownership and shall not be required to conduct a title search to ascertain ownership)
  - C. **"Board"** or **"Board of Directors"** shall mean those persons elected or appointed and acting collectively as the Board of Directors of the Association.
  - D. **"Common Area"** or **"Common Element"** or **"Common Properties"** shall mean and refer to all real property leased or owned by the Association for the common use and enjoyment of the Members, persons occupying dwelling places or accommodations of members on a guest or tenant basis to the extent permitted by the Board of Directors through its established rules and regulations.
  - E. **"Common Expenses"** shall mean and include: (1) All sums lawfully assessed by the Association against its members; (2) Expenses of administration, maintenance, repair, or replacement of the Common Properties; (3) Expenses declared to be common

expenses by the provisions of this Declaration or the Bylaw; (4) Hazard, liability, or such other insurance premiums as the Declaration or the Bylaws may require the association to purchase or as the Association may deem appropriate to purchase; (5) Ad valorem taxes and public assessment charges lawfully levied against Common Properties; (6) The expense of the maintenance of private drainage and utility easements and facilities located therein which are within the boundaries of the Property, cross Common Elements of the Property and serve both the Property and lands adjacent thereto; (7) The expense of maintenance of any roads, streets, easements, landscaping, amenities, taxes or any other expense item associated with any Common Property not located on the Property but permitted to be used by the members of this Association by any adjoining landowner, association or other entity pursuant to any cross-easement, cross-access or other agreement by the Association with the adjoining land owner; (8) Expenses for maintenance of security devices or personnel; (9) Expenses for the collection and removal of debris and refuse as common to the general good, welfare and health the of the Association Members; and, (10) Any other expenses determined by the Board or approved by the members to be common expenses of the Association.

- F. ***“Declarant”*** shall mean and refer to Omega VIII Investments, LLC, a North Carolina limited partnership, its successors and assigns, if Declarant shall make an express conveyance of its rights as a developer under the Covenant to such successor or assign.
- G. ***“Declaration”*** shall mean and refer to the Master Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions of Westerfield Farms applicable to the Properties recorded in the Office of Register of Deeds, Harnett County, North Carolina, and all amendments thereto.
- H. ***“Lot”*** shall mean and refer to any separately numbered plot of land shown upon any now or subsequently recorded subdivision map of the Properties with the exception of the Common Area, Limited Common Area and any dedicated public streets.
- I. ***“Master Declaration of Covenants”*** or ***“Covenants”*** or ***“Declaration”*** shall mean the Master Declaration of Covenants as record in Book 2051 Page 815-845 Harnett County Register of Deeds as it may be from time to time amended, supplemented, modified or incorporated by reference.
- J. ***“Master Plan”*** shall mean and refer to the drawing(s) which represents the conceptual land plan for the future development of the remaining undeveloped areas of Westerfield Farms Subdivision (“Westerfield Farms”). Since the concept of the future development of the undeveloped portions of Westerfield Farms is subject to continuing revision and change at the discretion of the Declarant as provided herein, present and future references to the “Master Plan” shall be references to the latest revision thereof.
- K. ***“Membership”*** Members shall be every person or entity who or which is a record owner of a fee or undivided fee interest in any Lot or Unit which is subject by

covenants of record to assessment by the Association, except Declarant. The foregoing is not intended to include persons or entities that hold an interest in a Lot or Unit merely as security for the performance of an obligation. Membership shall be appurtenant to and may not be separated from ownership of any Lot or Unit, which is subject to assessment, by the Association. All Members shall be entitled to one (1) vote for each Lot or Unit owned. When more than one person holds all interest in any Lot or Unit, all such persons shall be Members. The vote for such Lot or Unit shall be exercised as they among themselves determine, but in no event shall more than one vote be cast with respect to any Lot or Unit.

- L. **“Owner”** shall mean and refer to the Owner as shown by the records in the Register of Deeds of Harnett County, North Carolina, whether it be one or more persons, firms, associations, corporations, or other legal entities, including the Declarant, of fee title to any Lot but, notwithstanding any applicable theory of a mortgage, shall not mean or refer to the mortgager or holder of a security deed, its successors or assigns, unless and until such mortgager or holder of a security deed has acquired title pursuant to foreclosure or a proceeding or deed in lieu of foreclosure; nor shall the term “Owner” mean or refer to any lessee or tenant of an Owner. In the event that there is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds, a long-term contract of sale covering any Lot or parcel of land within the Property, the purchaser under said contract of such Lot or parcel of land shall be the Owner and not the fee simple title holder. A long-term contract of sale shall be one where the purchaser is required to make payments for the property for a period extending beyond twelve (12) months from the date of the contract, and where the purchaser does not receive title to the property until such payments are made although the purchaser is given the use of said property.
- M. **“Planned Unit”** shall mean and refer to any structure or part of a structure designed for occupancy as a single family dwelling and shall include single family residences, condominium units, townhouses, villas, apartments or any other single family dwelling unit located on the Properties, including attached and detached units, as planned under the Master Use Plan as it may be amended from time to time.
- N. **“Properties”** shall mean and refer to that certain real property described in the Master Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions of Westerfield Farms, and such additions thereto as may hereafter be brought within the jurisdiction of the Association.
- O. **“Unit” or “Dwelling Unit”** shall mean any residential structure constructed on a Lot and intended for Residential Use as defined in Declaration of Covenants, **Part II, ARTICLE I, Section 1.**
- P. **“Use or Used for Residential Purposes”** shall mean to be used as one’s residence or normal and customary place of abode as hereinafter more fully set forth in Master Declaration **Part Two, Article II, Section 1**, and shall not include any use for business purposes except as expressly permitted in Part Two, Article II, Section 1, thereof. All individual lots which are platted and recorded shall be deemed to be Residential Lots to be used for Residential Purposes unless some other use or intention is indi-

cated on the plat or some related recorded document.

### ARTICLE III Membership

- Section 1. **Annual Meeting.** The annual meeting of the Members shall be held at such time and at such place as is fixed by the Board of Directors. The Board may change the date of the annual meeting from time to time.
- Section 2. **Special Meeting.** Special Meetings of the Members may be called at any time by the President or by the Board of Directors, or upon written request of the Members who are entitled to vote one-fourth (1/4) of all of the votes of the current membership.
- Section 3. **Notice of Meeting.** Written notice of each meeting of the Members shall be given by, or at the direction of, the secretary or person authorized to call the meeting, by mailing a copy of such notice, postage prepaid, at least 30 days before but not more than 60 days before such meeting to each Member entitled to vote thereat, addressed to file Member's address last appearing on the books of the Association, or supplied by such Member to the Association for the purpose of notice. Such notice shall specify the place, day and hour of the meeting, and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose of the meeting.
- Section 4. **Quorum.** The presence at the meeting of Members entitled to cast, or of proxies entitled to cast, one-tenth (1/10) of the votes of membership shall constitute a quorum for any action except as otherwise provided in Master Declaration of Covenants **Part III, Article III Section 6** or as otherwise stated by these By-Laws.
- Section 5. **Proxies.** At all meetings of Members, each Member may vote in person or by proxy. All proxies shall be in writing, notarized and filed with the secretary. Every proxy shall be revocable and shall automatically cease upon conveyance by the Member of his or her Lot or Unit.

### ARTICLE IV Board of Directors

- Section 1. **General Powers.** The property, affairs and business of the Association shall be managed by the Board of Directors.
- Section 2. **Number, Term and Qualifications.** The Association shall be governed by a Board of Directors. The number of persons on such Board of Directors shall be three (3). Of those Directors initially appointed by the Incorporator, one shall serve until the annual meeting in 2006, one shall serve until the annual meeting in 2007 and the third shall serve until the annual meeting in 2008. Thereafter, at each annual meeting, one-third (1/3) of the total number of Directors to serve shall be elected (or appointed, as the case may be) for a three-year term, it being the intention that the Directors serve in rotating three-year terms. A Director may serve for consecutive terms.
- Section 3. **Election and Appointment of Directors.** Except as otherwise provided, Directors shall be elected at the annual meeting of Members, and those persons receiving the highest

number of votes shall be deemed to have been elected. If any Member so demands, election of Directors shall be by written ballot. Notwithstanding the foregoing, until December 31, 2025 or until the Declarant shall have conveyed all the Lots contained within the Properties, Declarant or its express assignee shall have the right to designate a two-thirds (2/3) majority of the Board of Directors. Whenever Declarant shall be entitled to designate and select any person(s) to serve on the Board of Directors, the names and address of the designee(s) shall be delivered in writing to the Association, such appointment to be effective on the date received, if hand delivered or, on the next business day immediately following the date it is placed, postage-paid, in the U.S. Mail. Declarant shall have the right to remove any persons so selected by it and to replace such persons so removed with another person selected by the Declarant. Any Director designated by Declarant need not be an Owner. Declarant, as a Member of the Association, or any representative of Declarant serving on the Board of Directors, shall not be required to disqualify itself from a vote upon or entrance into any contract or matter between Declarant and the Association in which Declarant may have a pecuniary or other interest.

- Section 4. **Regular Meetings.** A regular annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held at the office of the Association or other appropriately designated place. The Board of Directors may provide a resolution for the holding of such meeting at a place other than the office of the Association, within the State of North Carolina, without other notice than such resolution.
- Section 5. **Special Meetings** Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the President or Vice President or by two or more of the Directors. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board may fix any place within the State of North Carolina, reasonably accessible to the Members, as the place for the holding of such special meeting.
- Section 6. **Notice of Meetings.** Notice of each regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given at least thirty (30) days prior thereto. Notice of any special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given at least five (5) days prior thereto. All notices shall be in writing delivered personally or sent by mail to each Director at his address as shown on the records of the Association. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail in a sealed envelope so addressed, with postage thereon prepaid.
- Section 7. **Quorum.** The presence of two-thirds of the members of the Board of Directors at a meeting duly assembled shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business; provided, that if less than a quorum of the Directors shall be present at the time and place of any meeting, the Directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum shall be present, and notice of any adjourned meeting need not be given.
- Section 8. **Voting.** Except as otherwise expressly provided by statute or by Charter of the Association or by these Bylaws, the action of a majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the action of the Board of Directors.
- Section 9. **Action Taken Without Meeting.** The Directors shall have the right to take any action in the absence of a meeting, which they could take at a meeting by obtaining a written approval of all the Directors. Any actions so approved shall have the same effect as though taken at a meeting of the Directors.

Section 10. **Vacancies.** In the event of any vacancy of an elected Director position occurring in the Board of Directors of an elected Director due to death, resignation, disqualification or otherwise, the remaining Directors shall continue to act; and such vacancy may be filled by the vote of a majority of the remaining Directors, even though such majority is less than a quorum, or by the sole remaining Director if there is only one (1) Director remaining. Any Director so chosen shall hold office for the unexpired portion of the term of the person whom the newly elected Director succeeds and until his successor shall have been duly elected and qualified, or until his or her death, or until he or she shall resign or shall become disqualified.

Section 11. **Compensation of Directors.** Directors shall not receive any compensation for their services as such; provided, however, that nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any person who is a Director from also serving the Association in another capacity and receiving compensation therefore.

Section 12. **Powers.** The Board of Directors shall have power to:

- A. Adopt and publish rules and regulations governing the use of the Common Area and facilities, and the personal conduct of the Members and their guests thereon, and to establish penalties for the infraction thereof;
- B. Suspend the voting rights and right to use of the recreational facilities of a Member during any period in which such Member shall be in default in the payment of any assessment levied by the Association. Such rights may also be suspended after notice and hearing, for a period not to exceed 60 days for infraction of published rules and regulations;
- C. Foreclose the lien against any property for which assessments are not paid within thirty (30) days after due date or to bring an action at law against the Owner personally obligated to pay the same;
- D. Exercise for the Association all powers, duties and authority vested in or delegated to this Association and not reserved to the membership by other provisions of these By-laws, the Articles of Incorporation, or the Declaration;
- E. Declare the office of a member of the Board of Directors to be vacant in the event such member shall be absent from three (3) Consecutive regular meetings of the Board of Directors; and
- F. Employ a manager, an independent contractor, or such other employees as they deem necessary, and to prescribe their duties.

Section 13. **Duties.** It shall be the duty of the Board of Directors to:

- A. Cause to be kept a complete record of all its acts and corporate affairs and to present a statement thereof to the members at the annual meeting of the Members, or at any special meeting when such statement is requested in writing by one-fourth (1/4) of the Members present.
- B. Supervise all officers, agents and employees of this Association, and to see that their duties are properly performed;

- C. As more fully provided in the Declaration, to:
  - i. Fix the amount of the annual assessment against each Lot and/or Unit at least thirty (30) days in advance of each annual assessment period; and
  - ii. Send written notice of each assessment to every Owner subject thereto at least thirty (30) days in advance of each annual assessment period;
- D. Issue, or to cause an appropriate officer to issue, upon demand by any person, a certificate setting forth whether or not any assessment has been paid. A reasonable charge may be made by the Board for the issuance of these certificates. If a certificate states an assessment has been paid; such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of such payment;
- E. Procure and maintain adequate liability and hazard insurance on property owned by the Association;
- F. Require an annual operating budget for the Association and publish same annually.
- G. Cause all officers or employees having fiscal responsibilities to be bonded, as it may deem appropriate; and
- H. Cause the Common Area to be maintained.

Section 14. **Removal.** Any Director may be removed from the Board, with or without cause, by a majority vote of the Members of the Association.

## ARTICLE V

### Officers

- Section 1. **Number of Officers.** The officers of the Association shall be a President a Vice President, a Secretary and a Treasurer and any such other officers as may be appointed in accordance with the provisions of Section 3 of this Article V, Any two (2) or more offices may be held by one (1) person except the offices of President and Secretary; but no officer shall sign or execute any document in more than one (1) capacity.
- Section 2. **Election, Term of Office and Qualifications.** Each officer, except such officers as may be appointed in accordance with the provisions of Section 3 of this Article V, shall be elected by the Board of Directors at its annual meeting and shall hold office until the annual meeting of the Board of Directors held next after his or her election or until his or her death or until he or she shall resign or shall have been disqualified or shall have been removed from office.
- Section 3. **Subordinate Officers and Agents.** The Board of Directors from time to time may appoint other officers or agents, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have such authority and perform such duties as the Board of Directors from time to time may determine. The Board of Directors may delegate to any officer or agent the power to appoint any subordinate officer or agent and to prescribe his respective authority and duties.

- Section 4. **Removal.** The officers specifically designated in Section 1 of this Article V may be removed, either with or without cause, by vote of a majority of the whole Board of Directors at a special meeting of the Board called for that purpose. The officers appointed in accordance with the provisions of Section 3 of this Article V may be removed, either with or without cause, by the Board of Directors, by a majority vote of the Directors present at any meeting, or by any officer or agent upon whom such power of removal may be conferred by the Board of Directors. The removal of any person from office shall be without prejudice to the contract of rights, if any, of the person so removed.
- Section 5. **Resignations.** Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Directors or to the President or the Secretary of the Association, or, if he or she were appointed by an officer or agent in accordance with Section 3 of this Article V, by giving written notice to the officer or agent who appointed him or her. Any such resignation shall take effect upon its being accepted by the Board of Directors or by the officer or agent appointing the person so resigning.
- Section 6. **Vacancies.** A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal or disqualification or any other cause shall be filled at a regular or special meeting of the Directors for the unexpired portion of the term in the manner prescribed by these Bylaws for regular appointments or elections to such offices.
- Section 7. **President.** The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association and, subject to the instructions of the Board of Directors, shall have general charge of the business, affairs and property of the Association and control over its other officers, agents and employees and shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors.
- Section 8. **Vice President.** At the request of the President, upon absence or disability, the Vice President shall perform all the duties of the President and when so acting, shall have all of the powers of and be subject to all of the restrictions upon the President. The Vice President shall perform such other duties and have such authority as from time to time may be assigned by the Board of Directors.
- Section 9. **Secretary.** The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors and shall see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law. The Secretary shall be custodian of the records, books, reports, statements, certificates and other documents of the Association and the seal of the Association, see that the seal is affixed to all documents requiring such seal and in general shall perform all duties and possess all authority incident to the office of Secretary, and shall perform such other duties and have such other authority as from time to time may be assigned by the Board of Directors.
- Section 10. **Treasurer.** The Treasurer shall have supervision over the funds, securities, receipts and disbursements of the Association, and shall in general perform all duties and have all authority incident to the office of Treasurer and shall perform such other duties and have such other authority as from time to time may be assigned or granted by the Board of Directors.
- Section 11. **Duties of Officers may be Delegated.** Due to the absence of any officer of the Association or for any other reason that the Board may deem sufficient, the Board may delegate the power or duties of such officer to any other officer or to any Director for the time being, provided, however, a majority of the entire Board of Directors concurs therein.



Section 12. **Salaries of Officers.** No officer of the Association shall receive a salary and/or compensation for his services as such officer.

## ARTICLE VI

### Contracts, Loans, Deposits, Checks, Drafts, etc.

Section 1. **Contracts.** Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents to enter into any contract or to execute or deliver any instruments on behalf of the Association, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

Section 2. **Loans.** No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Association and no evidence of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless and except as authorized by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. **Deposits.** All funds of the Association shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Association in such banks or trust companies or with such bankers or other depositories as the Board of Directors may select, or as may be selected by any officer(s) or agent(s) of the Association to whom such power may from time to time be given the Board of Directors.

Section 4. **Checks, Drafts, etc.** All notes, drafts, acceptances, checks and endorsements or other evidences of indebtedness shall be signed by the President or a Vice President and by the Treasurer, or in such other manner as the Board of Directors from time to time may determine.

Section 5. **Gifts.** The Board of Directors may accept on behalf of the Association any contribution, gift, bequest or devise for the general purposes or for any special purpose of the Association.

## ARTICLE VII

### Assessments

As more fully provided in the Declaration, each member is obligated to pay to the Association annual and special assessments which are secured by a continuing lien upon the property against which the assessment is made. Any assessments not paid when due shall be delinquent. If the assessment is not paid within thirty (30) days after the due date, the assessment shall bear interest from the date of delinquency at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum and shall be subject to a late charge of Twenty-five Dollars (\$25.00).

The Association may bring an action at law against the Owners personally obligated to pay the same or foreclose the lien against the property, and interest, late charge, costs, and reasonable attorney's fees of any such action shall be added to the amount of such assessment. No Owner may waiver or otherwise escape liability for the assessments provided for herein by nonuse of the Common Area or abandonment of his or her Lot or Unit.

**ARTICLE VIII**  
General Provisions

- Section 1.           **Corporate Seal.** The corporate seal of the Association shall be in such form as shall be approved from time to time by the Board of Directors.
- Section 2.           **Fiscal Year.** The fiscal year of the Association shall be established from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors.
- Section 3.           **Waiver of Notice.** Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the Non-Profit Corporation Act of the State of North Carolina or under the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Association, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice.
- Section 4.           **Amendment to Bylaws.** These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed and new Bylaws may be adopted by two-thirds (2/3) of the Members present and voting; provided, however, that at least seven (7) days' notice in writing shall be given of the intention to alter, amend or repeal or to adopt new Bylaws at such meeting.
- Section 5.           **Conflict.** In the case of any conflict between the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws, the Articles shall control; and in the case of any conflict between the Declaration and these Bylaws, the Declaration shall control.
- Section 6.           **Dissolution.** Upon dissolution all assets and funds of the corporation will be divided between all property owners who are active members with dues current on the date of dissolution on a pro-rate share basis less any outstanding debts and fees for dissolution.

---

Secretary

(Seal)